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 (Standing by.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Wow, it just amazes me, actually.

Because the Internet crowd is waiting.

So once again, let me thank you for being here.

Thank our viewers on the Internet.

There's some people talking last night and you know, sometimes I like to put things in context.  So to some extent people felt like you guys were making history here.  This was kind of a historical gathering, pretty diverse group geographically and culturally and racially and every other way.

So the good thing about it is we are still here.  I think we might have lost a couple people, but maybe they'll wander in a little later.

Can I get a poll here?  Is anybody here leaving after lunch?  Before the end?

Wow, that's great.  What we are going to do is at lunch we are going to put up here on the chart to my left over here what small group you are going to be in.  So when you go off to lunch, grab your food and come back in here.  We are going to want you to sit with that grouping, okay?

So the grouping you're with right now if you're with somebody from your state, that will be staying the same.  But, for example, Tennessee, we might pair you with North Carolina and South Carolina and Georgia.  There seems to be enough people to have maybe two tables worth.  At lunch remember when you grab your food, make sure you check the chart up here to see what group you're going to be in, okay?

You're going to see me just right around 4:00 o'clock just absolutely bolt from this place.  And it won't be because I'm upset at anybody or anything, but I really have to be somewhere.  It's a wedding thing, that kind of stuff.

So don't take it personally.

So I just want to use this opportunity to actually thank the organizers for the conference.

(Applause.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  I know you do that usually at the end, but I needed to get that out of the way.  I imagine my brain will be transitioning real quickly around 4:00 o'clock.

I don't know about y'all, what do you think about this food?

(Cheers and applause).

>> MARK JOHNSON:  And the fruit, good grief and the folks helping, like this young woman right here.

(Applause.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  You see what I've got here?  A bowl of grits.

(Laughter.)

That will be great.

I don't know what I'm going to do with that now.  I might fall asleep by 10:00 o'clock.

(Laughter.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Also let me ‑‑ Talley is not in the room but I'll eventually when he comes in the room apologize to him.  Also apologize to the organizer.  I got messed up.

On your agenda even like today, if you go to the 1:45 ‑‑ excuse me, the 2:45 time and it says 2:45 to 3 break.  It says 4:00 o'clock wrap‑up?  Yesterday I read that wrong, Laurel.  And you're over there looking at me, do I have any more time?  Do I have any more time?  That's a continuation.

So you know, I was looking at it like an hour and 15 minute break.

So that break is not that long.  It is a continuation of the small group breakouts.

Let me just say again I hope some of you got out a little bit and saw Atlanta.  I know this is a packed conference, as our spy from the AAA told us.  That he, you know, it was a great conference because it's packed and it makes it worth coming to, but at the same time there's not a lot of flexibility unless you add a day to actually see the town you're in.

Remember, the organizers always want you to continually write down any reaction you have or this, that and the other that would make future trainings more valuable or better.  So constantly be in that critique and evaluation mode.

Remember yesterday I said wad di welcome?  Very briefly, I know Stacy, you're here, right?

I won't get the story right.

>>:  You won't!

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Can you tell the story?  About two minute?  Grab that microphone and just say ‑‑ go ahead.  It will make sense.

>> STACY:  All right.  This is a story, a life saved, a life well lived story.  To tell it in two minutes does not give it justice.  Please, go get the, wad di welcome and the beloved community by Tom cull pert, hang on to it and share the story.

Briefly, Mr. Welcome lived in the savannah area.  We are very proud of that story because it's home.  It's Georgia.  Lived in the savannah area with his family , cerebral palsy, didn't use language to communicate.  Didn't use a chair to get around.  It was a bed that reclined.  They pushed that around.

Mom and dad died.  Where did he go?  Nursing home!  Nursing facility.  I'm not going to call that a home.  If my kids ever throw me in that place.

So nursing facility.  No, I don't have an opinion on that one, do I?

Tom culler is a citizen advocate.  He's an amazing man who goes and rescues people.  He met waddie while he lived in this facility.  He realized he's like so many of us, just an amazing man and quickly realized that waddie loved beautiful women.  They had that in common.  Once you find common ground, a relationship is built.

Tom culler worked and worked to find another citizen advocate that would help facilitate this gentleman getting back in community and having a circle of support around him.  After just many, many attempts, he found someone that would help with this process.

Long story long is, Waddie welcome went from a nursing facility to ‑‑ and no miles an hour ac allows cure of ‑‑ miraculous cure of being able to communicate or get up and walk around, went from the facility to being one of the top most influential men in savannah.  It's an amazing story of what happens when my comments yesterday, you build community.  You build circles of support around people.

I just see our work as dual.  Yes, all this bureaucratic stuff is important and we have to lay ground there.

There's another sector of us that needs to be digging into the community building piece.  I'm proud to be able to carry that banner.  Waddie welcome and the beloved community.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Correct me if I'm wrong, in addition to the book and it's not a very long read but also there's a documentary, right?

The University of Georgia, they call it IHDD or, institute of human development and disability or whatever.

Actually created a documentary of Waddie's story.  Nice one to get you grounded in.

Remember yesterday when I referred to Holly and Memphis?  You know now that she's back home and has some support and what's he next?

So Waddie reminds you potentially of what's next.

Last night in my excessive compulsive style?  Because I go home wound up and then I have to do brain dumps.  A lot of here from Georgia know I send out e‑mail once in awhile with my brain dumps and then I move on.

I wrote down at least 25 things that potentially you could do, and that's without a conversation this afternoon.  So I'm confident that you'll have plenty to do after you leave the discussion today.  But I want to remind you of some key dates:  June 22nd, obviously, the anniversary of Olmstead.

I'm excited about what the folks in Kansas are thinking about in terms of the brown versus board of education in Olmstead and how they might do some direct action around that.  That's really cool.

How many of you heard the name Kareem Dale?

Cream Dell?  That's not good.  You know when the president got elected and there was, was asked before the election whoever they got elected that they create some kind of White House presence of snb?  I said it southernly, didn't I, Karen?  Kareem Dale.

So Kareem is that ‑‑ cream is something you eat.

Kareem.

I won't even go there.  Kareem is that person, he's a lawyer in Chicago and worked on the campaign and then ultimately got this position in the White House.  He's the one, I think, that helps sponsor those monthly White House calls related to disability issues, this, that and the other.

I would encourage you obviously first thing I hope you'll do, and maybe you'll do it here while you're multitasking on your phone or something, is contact him and ask him what plans the administration has to bring attention to the Olmstead decision on that day or that week.

NCIL's conference coming up, right, Kelly?  July 13 through 16, important date.

July 26, always an important date.  I always view it as equal as July 4th.  I shoot off fire works on both days even though it's illegal in Georgia.

Actually, I go across the South Carolina line and get stuff.

In the fall obviously there will be the fall action of ADAPT.  That's an important time.  Yesterday I asked you to write down November 2012.  After lunch look at what group you are going to be in.  I'm happy to share those 25 ideas if you get bogged down in your group process.

Remember those dates in your head.

I think, are we supposed to do those questions that came from our Internet crowd first?  All right.  Did you want to go ahead and just read them out and whoever here can answer them, can answer them?

>>:  Yeah, okay.  First question comes from Doug sample in Iowa.  And Doug has part comment, part question.

He says that there's been so much talk about Iowa not having the funds to support people in community settings.  Senator Dworski when asked why people are forced to stay in institutions when they could stay in the community at half cost:  There are those who think that some things can't change.

>> AUDIENCE:  Referring to the nursing home industry, yeah, it's a very powerful lobby.  It certainly is in Illinois.  They sell one of their themes is jobs and jobs is a big issue now.

And we have a big job to do to oppose that argument and to talk about jobs in the community and to make the principle more important than that group.

And they have money and I guess the other thing we need is money.

But those are some ideas I have.  Amber?

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Anybody else want to respond to that question?  Laurel?  And then Mike?

>> LAUREL MILDRED:  I just wanted to add that it is my understanding we haven't explored this yet in California ‑‑ this is Laurel Mildred.  Some states are also trying to incentive ice nursing homes to change their business model.  I'm all for checking into that as well.

>>:  I wanted to add a good part of the reason is the nursing home industry itself.  There are websites where you can look at who contributes to political campaigns.  You'll often see healthcare industry up there as one of the biggest contributors, that's hospitals and nursing homes, nursing facilities.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Anybody else?  Kelly?  Let's get that microphone.

>> KELLY:  Well, I also think there's.

>> AUDIENCE:  I think there's state bureaucrats, like Medicaid directors who don't want to see things change.  That would be a possibility, anyway, to that vague answer.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  I think when we break this afternoon for the small and large group stuff that we'll also talk a little bit more about that.  I know when ADAPT started in '83, the first thing they did was chase around the trade group for public transit, the American public transit association, chased them for 20 years.  One of the groups they started to chase was Acca.  Do you know who that is?  That's the nursing home lobby.  Maybe we can talk about that this afternoon.  Another question?

>>:  One.  Helen was wondering, a little clarification or elaboration on the section Q provision that we mentioned yesterday.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Do the people from Missouri want to address that?  Mike or whoever?  Go ahead.

>> AUDIENCE:  Every year, everyone who lives in a nursing home ‑‑ (Off microphone.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  We kind of lost you.

>> AUDIENCE:  Every year the nursing facility has to fill out a questionnaire for every resident indent.  It's called the minimum data set.  There's a series of questions in section Q of the minimum data set.  Q1A asks whether the person wants to return to the community.

And so every nursing resident gets asked that every year.  And the statistics are published online through the CMS website.  If anyone wants a link, send me an e‑mail request and I'll get that to you.

You can see for every state what the results are for people responding to that question.  And for every county within the State, what the results are for that question are posted online.

The CMS revamped the rules for that recently and so now in each state, each facility has to post or has to notify someone, and it varies from state to state, for every individual who answers yes I want to return to the community, there has to be a system in place so that supposedly someone representing the state government can go and talk to them about what their options are for returning to the community.

In Wisconsin the aging and disability resource center gets notified.  Sounds like in Missouri it's the ILCs.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Did you want to elaborate on Missouri and we'll go over to Kansas.

>> AUDIENCE:  He said pretty much the same thing that is happening in Missouri.  It's true, the local Independent Living Centers are involved as the local agencies.  Right now the CILs take the lead.  That might be changing because they are looking at the contract.  Centers might be the one entity that will be allowed to be the LCA.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Otherwise, you go into that facility invited?

>> AUDIENCE:  Yes, we do.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Kansas?

>> AUDIENCE:  We have the same thing going on.  With the Department of aging, we signed an agreement and they notified the CILs in the area if the person is under the age of 65, they contact the AAA if they are over the age of 65.  We go in and offer them community choices and start working with them to transition them out, we start the money follows the person process in Kansas.

It has been very successful.  The problem, of course, is not all nursing homes are participating the way they are supposed to.  They actually have set down rules in Kansas where they have only so many days to notify us and we have so many days to respond.  We have to be in the facility for seven days or they make the referral to the next person.  The AAA backs us up if the staff ‑‑ something might happen.

But we have seven days to contact.  So it's working well.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Where about is Virginia?  Go ahead.

>> AUDIENCE:  Basically the same idea.  In Virginia the local contact agencies are designated by Medicaid, are the analling, the CILs don't have ‑‑ the State was smart about this and insist that had the CILs be an integral part about that.  The local contact agency is a connection between the nursing facility and the CILs as transition care providers.  The CILs fundamentally are doing the work of the transition out of the facility for those individuals who can't b want to do that.  It's increased the working relationship at the state and local level between the local agency and the CILs.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Hope that answers your question.  Tim, any more?

>> TIM GLISSON:  No, sir.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  That's it.  Okay, we're going to start.  The agenda hasn't changed.  We'll try to have more fun than we did yesterday.

All the speakers today have, you know, slept up and stayed up late last night adjusting their ‑‑ I'm just kidding ‑‑ adjusting the comments since the bar was raised so high.

Our next session is just when P&As or protection and advocacy and Center for Independent Livings join forces.

Illinois will be well represented on this section here and we have live here Amber Smock with the Access Living.  If you've never been to that center before and you want to see a universally designed green center, it eel really cool and to understand how the leadership of Access Living worked with the elected leadership there to get the property.  It's a fascinating story.

That center actually used to also be sponsored by a rehab hospital.  So it's interesting to see how it's evolved over the years to have a leadership created relationships with elected folks there, how it led to the creation of ar universally designed green center now.

Amber Smock is here live with us the.

Then Karen Ward with Equip for Equality and that's the P&A, right?  Right?

You got bios in there in your stuff so you can learn a lot about these folks.  Once again you're going to enjoy what they have to say and how they say it.

We are going to queue up the whole session with a ‑‑ not a live, but a prepared, yeah, prepared statement from Marca Bristo, the Executive Director of Access Living.

Mark.

>> MARCA BRISTO:  Hi, everybody gathered in Atlanta.  I'm delighted to be here with you today.  I understand I'm the first guinea pig being brought to you through video.

So I really regret that I'm not able to be with you in person as we speak right now I am in South Korea, keynoting a conference put together by rehabilitation international on how we pass the Americans with Disabilities Act and what impact it has had on the United States of America.

Countries all over the world are in the process of developing laws like the ADA and reforming their policies in order to bring them into compliance with the new U.N. convention on the rights of people with disabilities.

I think this provides a powerful back drop or context for the conference that you're all gathered to discuss today.

The ADA ushered in a global reform movement.  Our good friend just continue Dart, right after the Americans ‑‑ Justin Dart gave a keynote address at an international conference where he shared the passage of the ADA with the global disability rights community.

He challenged all of us here in America to push for full compliance of the ADA.

He said to us at that time, "the eyes of the world are watching.  Failure is not an option."

Well, today the world is still watching to see whether our efforts to implement the Olmstead decision in the Americans with Disabilities Act will be successful.  I believe that is entirely up to us.  With state budgets under extreme fiscal crisis, with talks of Medicaid reform that could include things like block granting, Medicaid dollars to the States, and with the resurgence of states' rights arguments, how do we navigate this new terrain to assure that the full intent of Olmstead is realized?

My remarks today will focus on efforts on behalf of the disability community in Illinois to move forward with an Olmstead agenda.  But before I do, I think it's important to touch base with or reflect upon some of the lessons of the civil rights movement that preceded us.  First and probably most significantly, Frederick Douglas taught us that "power concedes nothing without demand."

The mere existence of the ADA and of the Olmstead decision will never be enough to secure our liberation.

Another of our trusted heroes, the late Tim Cook, an extraordinary disability rights attorney, wrote an article in the temple law review in 1991, right after the Americans with Disabilities Act was passed.

In that article, he said, "after all the excitement over the enactment of the Americans with Disabilities Act, all the letters and telegrams that were sent from the disability grassroots population, after 11 public hearings were held, three Senate hearings, and after lengthy debate in the Senate, the disability community paused for well deserved self congratulations and celebrations over this great legislative accomplishment.  Yet there was a lingering sense of deja vu among those disability rights advocates that went with the movement the longest.  It was over 40 years ago at that time that the closest we had to a national disability rights legislation, section 504 of the Rehab Act had been passed in and the regulations had been released.  When those relatively tough regulations were finally published in 1977, there were celebrations much like those surrounding the enactment of the ADA in the homes and workplaces of disabilities leaders throughout the nation.  But what effect did those one dollar rouse new regulations ‑‑ wondrous new regulations have?  The answer was very little."

The Tim went on to remind us that the issue today is whether persons with disabilities will rest on our laurels and the legislative victories of the past and allow the ADA to accompany its legislative predecessors languishing in the hall lows of non-enforcement or will we move towards assuring that the ADA is implemented root and branch?

I believe that's why you are all gathered here today, to assure that the Olmstead decision is implemented root and brooch.  And I know that it can ‑‑ branch.  I know it can only happen with the strong guidance and active participation of leaders across the country.

We also have much to learn from the woman's movement which has preceded us.  Shortly after Tim Cook's article came out, I ran across the book by Susan Faluti entitled backlash.  Her book was very instrumental in my personal understanding of what we were about to go through shortly after the ADA was passed.

And of course, we did.  Faluti says in her book that although the backlash is not an organized movement, that doesn't make it any less destructive.  In fact, the lack of orchestration, the absence of any single string‑puller only makes it harder to see and perhaps more effective.

She goes on to describe that the backlash adopts disguises in order to make it appear as if it's not a backlash at all.

She goes on to say the backlash remarkets old myths about women as new facts and ignores all appears to ‑‑ appeals to reason.  Of course, that has happened to us in the disability community as well.  How many of you have heard that some people with disabilities just can't simply live in the community?  Then they go on to paint the picture of individuals who are completely powerless to be able to survive in something other than a large congregate setting, even though the facts tell a completely different story.

Well, it is all of this context that I wanted to lay out for you before I got into the discussion of how we in the disability community in Illinois have tackled the issue of Olmstead implementation.  Let me say at the outset that our efforts didn't start out with a formal plan.  We have made this up as we go.  Each step of the way we thought that our tactics would result in success.

I don't think any of us projected when we started how difficult this effort was going to be.  Of course, we had the ADA behind us.  We had the Olmstead decision to point to.  In fact, when the decision first came down, Chicagoans and Illinoisans joined our national colleagues to celebrate this great decision.  At the time Illinois was one of the very first states to give the appearance that it was going to step forward with active and meaningful I am implementation.

Right after the law was passed, the legislature passed a bill that formally established our state's Department of human services as the main agency for the responsibility of implementing this.  It gave them a date certain to develop an Olmstead plan and to report back to our state legislature.

I wish that was the end of the story.  However, the date came and went.  The statute also required that they compose an advisory committee that would help lay out the plan.  And the state legislature identified the players that needed to be in this advisory committee.

We knew right away once we saw the composition of the advisory committee to include all stakeholders, that our task was going to be an enormous uphill battle.  Because Illinois is a State that has very strong vested interests.  We come from the industrial Midwest where the labor movement has been very, very strong.  We come from a State that has a very strong, well funded and well organized set of providers that operate nursing homes, large‑scale developmental disability ICFDD facilities, and we still have a large number of state‑operated facilities.

My friend Karen Ward from Equip for Equality will go into more details about the statistics here in Illinois, but suffice it to say ours was a State that had not made any reform in this area since probably the early 1980s or the late 1970s.

The first task force came together and couldn't agree on much of anything.  Consequently, the deadline for achieving the plan to the state legislature came and went.  There was no plan.

Our community then form through coalitions that we put together to apply pressure to the legislature, to reinvestigate why the plan was late.  The state legislature passed yet a second bill directing them to come up with a plan with a date certain to get the plan back into them.  On the 11th hour they came forward with that plan.  It was a plan to plan.  All it did was aggregate things that had already been done in our state.  It did nothing to lay out what Olmstead requires.  No timelines, no deliverables or targets or numbers of individuals.  It really just was a picture of the status quo.

The community went back to the state legislature and said this is entirely unacceptable.

Myself and the Executive Director of our P&A, Xena Nadich, were both on that committee and we both resigned at that point in formal protest.

The community was committed to making sure that this important decision was implemented and decided then to look around what other states were doing.  A few years had passed.  We knew of Texas' experience of passing a money follows the person state legislation.  We set up dialogue with our good friend Bob Kafka to advise us.  One of the Access Living attorneys drafted a State legislative proposal.  We lined up the cosponsors who were very strong people here in our state legislature.  And we set about what we hoped would be then another very successful effort.

Once again, the labor movement and the nursing home providers and other service providers cut us off at the pass and were able to shut the bill down before it moved forward.

The bill did pass, I will say.  However, the money follows the person part of money follows the person was stripped from the bill.

The labor interests in our state simply were not willing to allow this effort to move forward.  It was at this point that the disability community decided that was it.  We had given them enough opportunities to make the reforms on their own.  It was time to go to the courtroom.

We initially looked at how we might create one lawsuit that would tackle the entire state.  We convened a group of attorneys from different organizations, each of whom had a specific interest in working on a particular area of Illinois law.  In Illinois, our long‑term care services are divided into different state agencies' jurisdiction ‑‑

(Audio difficulties).

>>:  After reading Tim cook's article and Susan Faluti's book, we decided that our Independent Living Center needed to have the capacity to develop litigation on our own.

We started off small with a fair housing grant that got our foot in the water doing fair housing work through a grant from HUD.

After the ADA was passed, we decided that we wanted to implement the ADA as well.  So we started off small with one attorney ‑‑ with private dollars.

I'm sharing this with you because I still believe deep in my heart that the independent living movement could be strengthened by others finding the means and the wherewithal to consider a legal operation within your center.  Whether it's you bringing attorneys on staff or you reaching out to the probono legal community or working more closely with your P&A, the voice of people with disabilities needs to be involved in setting the priorities of what our civil rights agenda is going to be, of making sure that we are bringing good cases with good facts, with good plaintiffs, with the right team of people to support it all the way through implementation.

This is not for the faint of heart.  It takes a long‑term commitment.  You can't look at this without understanding that you are going to be in it for many, many years.  One of the challenges that we've experienced through this process was some turn over in our staff.  Meaning that we then had to identify new attorneys to pick up where the old ones left off.

Then a final word about identifying pro Bonno partners.  One of the challenges we experienced on the nursing home case that Access Living was the lead on, was finding a pro bono firm that was willing to sue the state and the nursing home industry.

We did not have those challenges with the other two cases, but we did on behalf of those individuals in nursing homes.

What we found was most large law firms here in the city had conflicts because they either represented the state or they represented the nursing home industry.  So that is the reason that the nursing home case was filed so much later than the other cases were.  It took us that long to find pro bono legal team willing to do this with us.

It's extremely important if you take on this class action type of work that you do have a big firm with you.  You need their Gravitas.  You need their resources to support the work and also at the end of the day the strategy that they bring and the experience in federal court has been extremely important to us.

At the end of the day I think it's important for you also to know that attorneys fees are usually part of the settlement agreement.  While you are making an up front financial commitment that can be fairly substantial, those resources are more than reimbursed to you if you are successful in your cases.

As you will hear, one of our cases has settled.  The second one is very near settlement.  And the third one is still in settlement discussions.  This has taken us now at least five years of our mutual organizations' life.  It has required a deep collaboration and shared vision between the collaborating entities.  I'm very, very proud to say that the community here in Illinois has worked really, really hard to maintain that unity not only between the legal team but amongst others in the movement.

For example, our relationship with ADAPT has been a very important part of this as well as our relationship with the other Independent Living Center, the SILC and other organizations in the State.  We need all of that to work our magic.  Amber Smock will be talking to you about how we've used the media as a tool and when the media has worked against us.

I think you will see as you hear more and more about what we've done here in Illinois, this is not an easy thing to do.  You are going to face many levels of backlash, some that we didn't expect.

But I am here to say that I do believe at the end of the day we will prevail.  I do believe that we will prevail because we have the law on our side.  And I do believe we will prevail because once again as Justin Dart said, the eyes of the world are watching and failure is not an option.

I would like to thank you all for allowing me to join your conference today.  I wish you well as you go forward.  What you are doing is the most important work of our movement.  I wish you all the best.  The resources of Access Living are here should any of you want to speak to us further.  I'm sure my colleagues from the ACLU and Equip for Equality feel the same.

Thank you and God speed.

(Applause.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  I think if I can ask Amber, was that on the top floor where your museum is?  Where that was being filmed?

>> AMBER SMOCK:  (Off microphone.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Tell people a little bit about it.  It's important that centers need to think about.

>> AMBER SMOCK:  When Access Living was constructed in the new building, one of the considerations was creating space for expansion.  We wanted to have not just enough space for the offices, but also there's a space for community and space to display art work and exhibits, things like that.  On the fourth floor of Access Living we have a large exhibit space that we use for community events.  The first thing we hosted in there was a disability history exhibit about disability history in the state of Illinois.

That exhibit is traveling.  I think it's currently in Philadelphia with its owners at Temple University.

Right now the exhibit that is up there is a collection of photos from ADAPT by Tom Olin.  And that is not only are they scenes of arrest and rally and inspiration.  This is a room where we do everything from our performances.  Our community comes to vote.  You know, everything happens there.  Every time they come in and out of that room they feel what it means to be part of the disability community.  Actually, because of that room with the Tom Olin photos, the Chicago public schools special education chief has decided to purchase a collection of Tom Olin photos to put in the special ed offices in Chicago.

And because he wants to be able to show parents and teachers when they walk in what the history of the disability movement is and why that's important to kids in special education.

That's one of the reasons that's important.

(Applause.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  I'm going to turn it over to Karen at this time.  And around 10:30ish or so we'll take a break and finish up maybe were Karen and then Amber and just right into lunch.

So enjoy Illinois for the next couple hours.

>> KAREN WARD:  Whatever.

Good morning.  As I was sitting listening and watching Marca, I was thinking to myself:  It's always tough and daunting to follow Marca Bristo.  Then I reminded myself:  It's not about you!  I'm thankful for her remarks, as I'm sure all of you are.

My name is Karen ward, I'm senior and corporate counsel for Equip for Equality, the protection advocacy system for the state of Illinois.

I would like to thank you for letting me participate in your conference.  I enjoyed yesterday immensely, learning and listening with you, chatting and drinking with you last night.

And I was thinking about the difference between coming to a conference like this, which is very substantive and very much about learning and action, and going to a C.L.E., which is a continuing legal education course that I'll have to do quite a bit before June 30.

And the difference is, reminded me of why I love doing disability rights work.  It's hard.  It's intellectual.  It's stimulating.  It's head work.  And it's heart work.

You know, everybody's passion and commitment flows through all the comments about getting through to the content and the nitty gritty.  That's exciting.  It took me a long time in my career to sort of get to that place.  I have been a lawyer for more than 30 years, mostly doing federal court in lots of different arenas.  But for the past 13 and a half years I have worked at Equip for Equality.

Before I get into the discussion of our Olmstead cases, in particular the class actions.  Those aren't the only Olmstead cases we have done in Illinois.  If there's time later we can chat about some of the others.  But I had a few reflexes on yesterday and some of the points that were made.  Particularly as it related to the comments about a holistic approach to Olmstead, or are we all doing Olmstead?  Or what is Olmstead?

And thinking back on the comments about brown versus board of education.  Does anybody know what year that year was decided?

>> AUDIENCE:  1954.

>> KAREN WARD:  1954, right.  It is largely viewed as the year in which the right of African American black children to attend school and integrate, be integrated with White children was adopted, 1954.  It has then spurred, or spawned the civil rights movement legislatively.

In fact, the Supreme Court's decision in 1954 did not hold, wasn't legislation.  It didn't create rights in 1954.  It held that those children had had those rights since the 14th amendment was adopted.  That was in 1868.

And in between, there had been a wrong decision in Plessy versus Ferguson.  It wasn't the law that was changed by brown versus board of education.  The law was the law since 1868.  That had been preceded by other action, of course, the Civil War and all the actions of the brave people that led up to that moment.

Of course, the right of African Americans, and they weren't even allowed to be Americans at the time in terms of citizenship, to be free and equal was a right that stemmed from when?  Forever!  .  It was a human right.  So I was reflecting on that when we talked about Olmstead because Olmstead was decided in what year?  1999.  So often we talk about the right to community integration, the integration mandate starting in 1999.  But of course, that was just a court decision.  It held that that right had existed since 1990 when The Act was passed.  So all those years between 1990 and 1999 when nothing was done were years in which the rights existed.  They simply were violated.  That was presided by the rehabilitation act.  As you and I also believe, the 14th amendment really should be providing all of us those rights.

So when you think about Olmstead work, I think of it ‑‑ I'm going to talk about that in a minute ‑‑ as a cause of action that you can bring in federal court and it has elements.  It also is a mandate to the States to do integration.

What do you think of it as?  When did you first believe that you all had a right that's correct we all had a right to live equally with other people in the community?  Forever.

So in a way, Olmstead both the ADA and the Congress and Olmstead in the Supreme Court, they were catching up with what you were already doing.  So I think of Olmstead in two ways.  It's a tool, a legal tool, cause of action and a mandate.  And it's a branding of a principle.  And the principle is integration.

The other thing I was thinking about this morning was the word "appropriate" that is unfortunately but necessarily in the elements of an Olmstead case.  We have to talk about whether medical people and others have determined that someone is appropriate for the community.  I ask myself and I'm sure many of you have:  Well, who determined that it was appropriate for a person to live in a place where they had $30 a month of spending money maximum, that their bed was 24 inches from a total stranger?  That they had dinner at 4:00 o'clock in the afternoon?  That it smelled bad, there was linoleum and no particularly interesting decorating?  No privacy, and tons of rules?  Now who is appropriate for that life?  No one, I would submit.

That's not to say that there were not some additional needs that people have that need to be met with regard to their physical or nursing needs.  Although this other sad secret about nursing homes is precious little medical or nursing care ever really takes place there.  It is really just segregation.

So what are the needs of a person with a disability?  Well, it reminded me of the movie "mask" did anyone see that movie?  And Cher was the biker mother of the young junior high student who had, I'll try to pronounce this cranial Diaophasia, also called lionitis.  He had a disfigured face.  The administrator was trying to segregate him into a segregated setting to meet his needs.

I don't remember the character, but I remember Cher asking, well, do you have algebra?  Do you have history?  And do you have biology?  He said yes, those are his needs, she said.

And so it is with people with disabilities.  They are like all of us.  What are their needs?  For a home, house, family, friend, education, employment, spending money, dignity, purpose and fun.  Those are the things that we need.

And they are not getting them in nursing homes.

So I'm going to now turn to what we've done in Illinois on the litigation side.  And I think as Marca has pointed out, that is a powerful tool and we are proud to have worked in that area.  I myself have worked on class action, first partnership that we ever did with Access Living was back in suing the Chicago transit authority along with starting almost ten years ago for accessibility.  It was a wonderful partnership between a CIL and a P&A.  We have worked with other CILs in Illinois on other projects.

At the end of our session we talk about what CILs can do with P&As with regard to litigation and otherwise.

So turning to the Power Point at long last, maybe I'll take a sip of water first.

This one, right?

Marca talked a bit about what led to the filing of these lawsuits and Illinois, a pop allows state, very large city, Chicago.  Never the less it ranks 49th or 50th in the use of institutions to provide services to people with disabilities.

And this is true with regard to developmental disabilities, mental illness, physical disabilities.

Knowing of the ADA's integration mandate, which we long believed was required by the ADA as a part of what discrimination was, we were working towards these kinds of litigation.  Then the Supreme Court decision came along in Olmstead.

As Marca detailed, there had been a number of efforts to get the state to comply with Olmstead, even just to have a plan that made some sense.  And it never happened.  There were lots of people paid lots of money, state employees, to sit around and talk.  As you say, plan to make a plan to make a plan.

When there were some good recommendations made, those actually went nowhere.

Ultimately the disability groups got together and we wrote a letter to the governor and we outlined what it was we wanted to happen.  And we got no response.  So the agencies got together and joined to bring three class actions.  And it was determined that each class action would have a lead agency as sort of lead counsel.  Then an outside pro bono counsel that would be also lead attorney along with the agency.

I can't stress enough how important finding pro bono law firm to assist is.  In the P&A, I think we had the intellectual capacity to understand the issues, and certainly when we got Access Living lawyers and Americans civil rights lawyers with us, but these cases are massive and we needed the document capacity that a large law firm has and the deep staffing of people they have of people who work on Saturday night ‑‑ we do, too ‑‑ to get out documents.  We knew that the opposition would be great and class actions are perhaps unnecessarily complex, but they are very complex.

So each case had its own flavor and each case has resulted in significant push‑back from facility owners and from others in the community.

We made extensive outreach efforts to the disability community regarding all three cases.  The CIL was, Access Living was especially instrumental in that area.  And of course when you're doing a class action you are not only looking for the support of the disability communities, but you're looking for plaintiffs.  You are looking for people who will be brave enough to be out in front in public about their disabilities, about what has happened to them, about the shame that has been imposed upon them, and also to go with you along for the frustrating and very long ride.

We, I think Amber will talk a little bit more about it, but we used media in all three cases.  We held, the first one is the Liggis case, we held a press conference in which our named plaintiff poignantly talked about living in a nursing home and getting out of a nursing home.  We had people talk about before and after.  One of your ADAPT members spoke about coming out of a nursing home, Fred fried man.  We got the media involved at every point we could.  We would cultivate in earlier cases where we had earlier relationships, reporters, national public radio, the Chicago sun times.  As Marca mentioned the media can have a down side because others are popular in the community and one organization that does run an ICFDD, misser cordia was very vocal in opposition to what we were trying to achieve.

We had a case, Equip for Equality was the lead counsel in the Leggus case, filed in 2005.  It is now 2011 and we are still awaiting a fairness hearing.

We had nine individuals with developmental disabilities representing a class of nearly 6,000 people, all living in large private ICFDDs and thousands more living at home that we talked to, spoke of in the class of being at risk of institutionalization.  That did not cover state operated facilities nor did it address the issues of children.

What was the purpose of the case?  Well, we were seeking for all individuals meaningful choice and community alternatives.

Real community alternatives to the institutional living that they were experiencing.

The lawsuit does not ask the state to move people into the community against their will or to close institutions.

Now, many people think that closure of institutions is the key and in many respects we don't disagree.  However, for two reasons that was not part of the relief we sought.

The primary reason is for the theory of Olmstead is not about whether a facility is no longer offered.  It's the theory of Olmstead is individualized approach to an individual's right to live in the community and to determine their own future.

The other is political.  It just was not the time in the lawsuit to be seeking that kind of remedy.

We got class certification in 2006.  Which of course was contested, but we got a certified class.  At that time it was quite a broad class because it included those who aren't using, using the language of Olmstead, do not oppose community integration or living in the community and otherwise met the test for Olmstead.

A number of groups tried to intervene.  At that time garden groups, groups of parents and the court denied the right to intervene.

Excuse me.

The parties then engaged in extensive discovery.  And I do mean extensive discovery.

This is where the law firm of son and shine now called D & R Denton was instrumental.  They had a wonderful program that collects and stores documents and you can retrieve them in all sorts of different ways.

As well as many, many depositions of state officials, of plaintiffs and a number of experts.

The plaintiff had five expert witnesses.  We had statistician, financial people, we had an expert who did evaluations of files of individuals to be prepared to testify about their assessment, so their ability to live in the community or what services they would need in the community.

Serious settlement negotiations started in August of 2008 because the trial had been scheduled for October of 2008.

So the State fought a long time before it was, before it went to the table.  They had an expert who was truly terrible and who had been criticized in another case by a federal judge for inadequacy.  So they really were losing that expert.  So faced with going to trial with really not much testimony about fundamental alteration or the appropriateness of ICFDD living for individuals with DD, they got serious.

So the good news was that we reached a settlement, which of course in a class action can only be proposed.  We wanted to be in the form of a consent decree which means that the court is actually ordering the relief and not just the parties agreeing on their own and having contract enforcement rights.

The trial was taken off the schedule.  Notice under what is called federal rule 23 of the federal Rules of Civil Procedure, you have to give extensive notice to all potential class members.  You negotiate what is said in the notice, who it goes to, how it goes.  All that took place.  As a result, 2,000 objections were filed to the proposed agreement, mostly by family members and institutions that benefited from the many Medicaid dollars that flowed to their institutions.

The current concerns that they raised were that Medicaid beds would be closed in order to do this.  Therefore, they wouldn't be able to fill the beds.  Like they had a constitutional right to fill every bed they ever had.  They were worried the evaluations were objective.  I'm sure the evaluations of asking someone if they wanted to go to the community was valid at the time.

And that everyone would be asked to choose before they were to go to ICFDD and the community.  They thought that wouldn't be fair.

There was a fairness hearing in July 2009.  I remember the day very well and I was upstairs in another courtroom fighting a budget cut litigation for a temporary restraining order, but I came back and everyone was very favorable about how the testimony had gone.

And then three hours later the lawyers came back and said that the judge had not only not approved the class settlement, which we didn't expect that he would have actually issued the order that tai, but he issued an order not just denying approval, but decertifying the class.

So the people that had testified, all these objectors, heavily influenced the judge that people were going to be sort of forced to move and you know, there was all quite passionate testimony about this wonderful place that saved their child and given their child many, many advantages.  Of course, not all ICFDDs are the same.  Some had much more programming and attractive features than others.

We kept making the case it was only about choice and they managed to convince the court that it wasn't a meaningful choice if everyone who did not oppose would be going to the community.

Of course in a DD population, who does the opposing?  And who does the requesting is always an issue.  There's guardians.  There's people with varying levels of intellectual abilities and understanding.  All that was a fight.

This was a shocking and devastating development.  Many meetings took place as to what to do next.  Do we redo the class?  Do we appeal?  There wasn't 100 percent agreement among everyone whether we should ask the appellate court to reverse.  It was decided to proceed and do it with a narrower class.

That is what happened.  Finally another agreement was reached with regard to the definition of the class.  And that current class is all of those in the class who have a current record of wanting community services.  So this group has to have affirmatively in some sort of way asked to be in the community.

But we are making sure that the opportunity for that ask is definitely going to take place if we, you know, if it ultimately gets approved.

Some of the people that objected to the case before were allowed to join the case as interveners and this happened back in April of 2010.  Then we had a new group that we had to negotiate with.  We had the State that we were suing.  We had the people that were mad that didn't like the earlier settlement and, of course, we had our clients that we still had a passionate desire and ethical obligation to achieve a good result for.

Actually, eventually after extensive negotiations in January of 2011 a new agreement was reached that all could support.  # this was no mean feat, given the interveners' status that we now couldn't settle unless they agreed.

The judge certified the new class.  He granted a preliminary approval of the new agreement, which was not in the other case.  And then he sent the notice of the agreement was ‑‑ we had to send out new notice to all the class members and the comments to the new proposed agreement are in fact due by tomorrow.  They have been flowing and there will be a fairness hearing on June 15.

Now, a fairness hearing is an opportunity for anyone who may be affected by a class action settlement to be heard.  The judge has allowed discretion ‑‑ has a lot of discretion over whether they can be heard in live testimony; whether experts are heard; or whether they just acknowledge the written objections.

When I have taken them, some of them actually take attendance where you can sign in and whether you're opposing or in favor.  There's a lot of discretion as to how that fairness hearing takes place.  A judge ultimately has to certify that a class action settlement is fair to the parties and fair to the public or other people that would be affected by it.

We are optimistic but not, you know, so optimistic that we don't realize that something could happen.

So let me tell you some of the terms of the decree because if this happens, and we think it will, it will illustrate what we are eventually getting from all these years of work.

The class is defined as those who are 18 or older who have DD and are Medicaid eligible.  All these cases are about Medicaid eligible people.  They need to live in a private ICFDD that currently has nine or more residents, or they are living in a family home and they are seeking home services in order to avoid being in an institution.

The state of Illinois must have a current record of the person seeking community‑based services or placement in the community‑based setting.

However, people can join the class as it goes forward over the years.  That current record is a rolling record.  If you don't have a current record of the date that says settlement is approved and the order goes out, you can have a later current record.

It is a consent decree, not a private settlement.  So that means that the enforcement of the order can be handled ‑‑ essentially it means that the court retains jurisdiction over it.  You don't have to file a new lawsuit or sue someone for a breach.

It includes development of community capacity.  And it specifically has provisions with regard to resources and budget requests.

The agreement provides that there will be an annual budget request by the executive branch sufficient to development and maintain services, the services that are set forth in the decree.

There will be implementation of funding mechanism to facilitate the transition among service settings, including combining appropriations.

We heard a lot yesterday about silos and I can tell you personally just from having taken depositions in these cases that turf and funding streams are a huge barrier to getting voluntary agreement on funding for community services.  So if you get an agreement that someone will get community services and that total for that person is still 20,000 less than it would have been in the nursing home or the ICFDD but the money for the ICFDD is over in column A and you have to come up with 20,000 more when you are supervising column B, you have a problem.

In this case, we have no legislative contingency.  That means that if the legislature does not approve ‑‑ appropriate the money, too bad.  They are in contempt of court.

So it is a strong ‑‑ it is as strong as we could get it in terms of resisting the arguments that I have heard in cases that I have had even with small attorneys fees awards.  Well, we can't control what the controller does.  I recall Judge Palmeyer saying:  Not my problem, and putting it in the order.  That's what we need to have happen.

The ICFDD residents who desire community placement will receive individualized independent evaluation.  Independent means the service provider, the facility where they are will have no role in that.

There will be a six‑year period, over a six‑year period, any of the 6,000 residents who desire placement in the community would be transitioning to the, quote, most appropriate ‑‑ most integrated community based setting appropriate for their individual needs".

It is true that all ICF‑DD residents happy with their current placement are not in the class and they wouldn't be required to move.  As I said, they can join the class and whether someone is happy with their current placement remains a complex issue.  But all of these have implementation plans and monitors to assure, as much as possible, that the desire of the person with the disability is not manipulated.

The proposed consent decree assures that the resources necessary to meet the needs of those who choose to continue to reside in the ICF‑DDs will be made available.  Kind of a concession there.

For people who have developmental disabilities who are living at home, this is in the case of DD this is usually with family members, often with aging parents.  Within a year, the State must screen all of the people living at home who have a current record of wanting community based services or placement in a community setting.

This screening must include whether the person meets crisis criteria.  Right now the only people who are getting any services in Illinois are the ones who meet crisis criteria.  And what is a crisis?  Well, it's an individual of imminent risk of abuse or neglect, imminent risk of homelessness, living with a father and the father dies of a heart attack or the caregiver is deceased, it is specifically set forth, or the caregiver is unable to meet the care needs of the individual in a way that would jeopardize that individual's health or safety, or the individual's behaviors are putting the individual or family member at risk of serious harm.

What happens with the crisis people, there's no limit on the number of people who are in crisis who will get community services.  And they go to the head of the class and they get services expeditiously.

Now, expeditiously, another one of those weasel words.  We'll see how that actually works the it's going to be carefully monitored.

For those not in crisis, what we have is a rolling out of relief.  At least a thousand people will be provided community services within the first two years p and then 500 people will be provided community services in each of the subsequent third, fourth, fifth, and sixth.

After the sixth year, people who are not served will move off a waiting list at a, quote, reasonable pace.  Again that will be vigilantly supervised.

The consent decree calls for the development of an implementation plan and requires the state to develop that draft plan within 90 days.  And then becomes the point of negotiation, which I will mention when we get to the Williams case because we are actually in the phase, that phase for it.  It has to be finalized in six months.

The plan has to include timetables, strategies and protocols to assure fulfillment of the terms of the decree.  It should describe the resource development activities that will take place and the services and supports that are not currently available.

There will be an appointment of a monitor.  That will be appointed by the judge.  The parties hope to agree on one and propose it to the judge.  If not, the judge selects based on nominees.  The monitor will assess compliance with the decree and develop measurable standards for compliance with the decree.  Monitors are supposed to resolve issues that come up.  If the monitor is not able to do that, then the monitor goes to the court.  The monitor, the question came up the other day in the case whether the monitors' reports can be made public or whether the public can go to the monitor to get information.  The answer is no.

The monitor will work for the court and it will essentially try to be a mediator and sort of a supervisor of the settlement.  But if parties disagree with what the monitor comes up with or the monitor is unable to come up with a strategy to resolve a problem, the remedy is to go back to the court.

If the parties don't reach a consensus on who the monitor will be, the court will be the ‑‑ will make the choice.  The monitor must be independent and knowledgeable.

The court is going to retain jurisdiction over the decree for at least nine years unless the court says no to that, but we think the court will do that.

The court will grant the State's request to terminate the decree if the court finds that they have substantially complied.  From God your lips to God's ear.  They are maintaining a system that ‑‑ systemic change.

People can join the class at any time throughout the period going forward throughout the nine years.  As I said, the fairness hearing is June 15.  I urge you, if you have interest in this case or any of these cases and the update on them to go to Equip for Equality website, which is Equip for Equality.org.  If you really want to see the nitty gritty of how these things are unfolding you can go and lawyers will help you find this if you don't have access to this, public access called pacer which gets you into federal court documents.

The next case we are going to talk about is called Williams versus Quinn, now called Williams versus Quinn because Quinn is now our governor.  It was called Williams versus Blogoyovich.

>> AUDIENCE:  On the noncrisis people, what was your legal basis for ‑‑ I mean, obviously you have a settlement, that's great.  What was your legal basis for why they were entitled to services?

>> KAREN WARD:  It would still be the risk of institutionalization.  In my view the imminent risk of institutionalization permits to preliminary relief in court.  I don't think the risk of institutionalization doesn't prevent that there will be a plan in place for when you need to have community services that will take place.

It is a basic Olmstead theory.

I don't think, they didn't move for summary judgment.  We never had to test this.  As I recall, I don't think, there may have been partial motions.  We didn't have to go to the mat on that.  And I think in the settlement there are things that we have given up that we might ‑‑ not much in this case, might have gotten in the judgment, but there are also things that you could get them to do as part of a settlement that it is not clear that the court would have done it.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  I want to clarify.  We were scheduled for a break ‑‑

>> KAREN WARD:  I forgot about the break.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Let's talk a little bit.  This is the second case.  It will take how long?

>> KAREN WARD:  The next two are much shorter.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  You want to take one more case?

>> KAREN WARD:  Do you want to go to Amber?

>> MARK JOHNSON:  One more case or ‑‑

>> AUDIENCE:  Keep going!

>> MARK JOHNSON:  One more case and we'll break.  Just, you can tell the viewing audience that we will break in about ‑‑

>> KAREN WARD:  I don't know how I'm doing on time.  I can speed a lot this up.  This is a lot of it in your materials.  I'll go to the second case and if I hear a gong, I'll leave.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  If you have to get up, she won't take it personally.

>> KAREN WARD:  You have self determination.  If you have to go to the bathroom, go ahead.

The second case involves mental illness and the notorious phrase and institution called institutions for mental disease.

This is a statewide case.  It's got 4500, there are 4500 class members or 4500 people who currently reside in IMDs.

IMDs, and we talked a fair amount about this yesterday and Talley talked about it.  They are 100 percent state funded.  So they are not getting federal match.  As I understand, the way IMDs work they don't even get the federal match for the kind of services for people who live at home and are looking for community based services get payments to psychiatrists and payments to doctors and medications.  It's totally state funded program.

It was ripe for the picking at a time when we are talking about declining state budgets as opposed to where are we going to get the money to do this?  We're saying we are going to be find you a way in which you get some of this paid for by the federal government and did the right thing and comply with Olmstead.

The suit was filed against the State officials under the Olmstead doctrine and again Equip for Equality is co-counseling with the same group.  ACLU, Access Living and Kirkland is our private counsel.

We had some support from the Ba Zelon center which you heard about yesterday and we probably all know quite well.

It was certified as a class action in 2007.  Parties actually reached an agreement in March of 2010.

We did have over 1,000, which I guess is progress from the other case, objected to the consent decree and also the judge in that case was quite angry and issued a public rebuke in order to have not have further contact found that the proprietors of the IMDs were giving false information and making improper contacts with their residents, scaring them, telling them they are going to be left homeless if this happens and they will be kicked out without notice and all these kinds of things.

The judge found that ... 

>> AMBER SMOCK:  (Off microphone.)

>> KAREN WARD:  Go ahead.

>> AMBER SMOCK:  Okay, okay.  One thing that they were ‑‑

>> KAREN WARD:  Can you put her mic on?  Am I on?

>> AMBER SMOCK:  Am I on now?  Yeah.

Okay.  So one thing that people were finding was that the IMDs were actually bribing residents with cigarettes to sign papers.

(  groaning in the audience).

>> AMBER SMOCK:  To sign papers that they didn't support the consent decree.

>> KAREN WARD:  Ironically even though they didn't get federal money, they only got to keep $30 of the ‑‑ this was a windfall for the federal government, the facility didn't have the money and the recipient didn't get the money.  Having the ability to afford things that they couldn't afford on their own.

The Department of Justice supported the agreement and actually testified at the fairness hearing.  There were numbers of family members who testified at the fairness hearing in favor of the IMDs as well as many who talked about the success of their family member coming out of them.  Of course, we had people testifying on their own behalf about their experience of. 

The class definition as set forth in the consent decree, it's all residents of Illinois who have a mental illness, are currently institutionalized in a privately owned institution for mental disease and with appropriate supports and services may be able to live in a community setting.

We think that's everyone.  We acknowledge the limit on someone's ability to live in the community to be essentially, solely an economic one.  If we have to meet some sort of economic test and generally you do have to meet some to avoid fundamental alteration.  Otherwise we think that anyone can live in the community with the appropriate supports and services.

The decree provides that within two years of the decree, there will be evaluations of the IMD residents, all of them, and we'll receive these to determine what is required for them to live in the community.

The residents can, of course, refuse to be evaluated.  They can stay where they are not and not be evaluated.  They must be conducted by professionals who are independent of the IMD.  The evaluations must address the individual's own vision and desire for their needs.

We have a timetable phasing in in this case.  Those are things that are really, really negotiated.  You argue over like half a person.  I'll do 32.3 or whatever.

All residents not opposing will be in the community within five years.  Not less than 256 of the class members will be placed after one year and total 640 after two; 40 percent of the class shall be placed after three, and 70 percent after four years.

Of course, we heard yesterday a lot about housing, housing, housing, housing, housing housing, and housing, housing, housing, housing was a big deal in this case.

It's easier to make a case for it in this case than the next case we'll talk about because they are already providing the housing and the State was paying for everything.

That way giving a subsidy for permanent support of housing for people with mental illness was not a new concept.  It was just one that we have expanded for this case.

The only exceptions for whether the permanent support of house is is grated is if the person has severe dementia or other severe cognitive, has medical needs requiring a high level of skilled nursing care that cannot be safely provided in PSH.  We think that's a theoretical thing.  That really the issue there should be cost.  As we all know, you know, Ronald Reagan didn't go to a nursing home.

If they present an imminent danger to themselves or others.  When you are dealing with mental illness, they make you put that in.  There was an independent monitor appointed in the case, Dennis Jones.  And the named plaintiffs have now been placed in the community.  There's a draft implementation plan as required by the decree.  And we have a goal to finalize that by the end of June.

So we are very excited about Colbert versus Quinn.  We did use the press.  We got front page on the Tribune and other vehicles.  So this is, of the three cases, this is the one we're actually in the success phase.  I'm told by the people that are doing a lot of this implementation work that the success phase is more work and almost as painful as the pre‑success phase.  It's not for the faint of heart.

I think it's time for a break.

(Applause.)

>> MARK JOHNSON:  Yeah, let's take a break and come back.

>> KAREN WARD:  And we'll do Colbert and we will be done.

>> MARK JOHNSON:  We'll do the third case.

(The event took a break at 9:35 a.m. CDT.)

(Standing by.)
